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i

Holy Trinity Church -at the corner of Hedley and Fuller Avenues 1is
the focal point of an architecturally harmonious complex designed to
house the activities of the only Irish Catholic parish in Central Falls.
On the same block are the Moly Trinity rectory, convent, school, and
parish house.

Holy Trintty Church, the centerpiece‘of the group, was completed
in 1897 following the designs of architect James Murphy. Construction

began in July, 1889, and was completed in 1891. The spire was built
six years later and a bell cast by Blake and Company (Boston) was
installed. : :

The church is. a Victorian Gothic structure set on a high basement,
executed in red brick, with granite trim and a grey slate roof. The
plan is basilican, with a gable-roofed, clerestory-lit nave and flanking
shed-roofed aisles,

The principal elevation is dominated by a four-level tower at ‘its
northeastern corner, surrounded by pinnacles, and 1lit by a variety of
windows on its second, third and fourth levels; it is capped by a
hexagonal spire. The principal entrance is  set in the center of the
facade, with subsidiary doors on either side, one 'in the tower and the
other under the shed roof of the south aisle. The double oak doors
of each entrance arc sct in a’'Gothic arch topped by tripartite windows.’
Over the central entrance is a set of five lancet windows of ‘
graduated heights and a trio of smaller windows is set high in the peak
of the gable. ' : -

The nave is six bays long and ends in a large traceried stained glass

window. The clerestory.contains six small stained glass lancet

windows. The side aisles are huttressed and have stained glass windows

,with brick voussoirs and granite sills, spring blocks, and keystones,

The windows depict a variety of saintly figures and were the gifts of
¥ .individual parishioners. A small one-story extension from the southwest
" corner of the church contains the sacristy and a narrow stair to the
+-y church basement. ' ' S '
. “The threc main entrance doors open o a narthex panclled in oak,
«i. which was added in 1916.. Trom this vestibulé, three oak doors open
'#% into the body of the church; these doors are separated by two small
;ﬁﬂ}rooms which serve as a childrens' room and a confession Toom. Both
*ta.are enclosed with oak panels carved in Gothic designs which are rcpeated

ﬁ%ﬂin the etched glass of the. upper part of their walls.

phcrnR

The nave of. the church is divided by six pairs of columns which

See continuation sheet 1
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@: support the shallow clerestory. The side aisles are panelled in oak

' to a height of threc-and-a-half feet. At the west end of the alsles

% are niches which once contained side altars, now removed. The simple
oak pews and the crown-shaped, brass hanging lamps were installed in

1939, I :

The organ gallery over the narthex is open to the body of the church
and is faced with a low, carved, light oak panel. It is reached by
narrow stairs in the tower, vestlbulc and contains the original pipe
organ. :

The sanctuary walls are painted with scenes from the life of Christ
and, like the ceiling of the church, with a vine design executed in
rose pink and soft gre The focal point of the sanctuary is the marble
reredos set beneath the west window. Llaborately carved with Gothic
motifs, it contains threc niches enclosing flgures of angels on either
end and a crucifix over the tabernacle. The main altar, which dates from ;
1914, is beige marble and is sct two steps above the sanctuary floor.
As ‘a result of changes in Catholic 11tu1g1g al practice, a simple altar
‘table has been installed in front of the main altar; the raised sanctuary,:
originally surrounded by a low railing, is now open to the nave and
projects into it. At the southern side of the sanctuary is the door ‘
leading to the basement stairs and the sacrlsty, lined with oak s
vestment cases.

The basement of the church contains a large assembly hall, simply
finished with oak wainscoting to the level of the window 51115, with
“a delicate floral stencil on the plaster walls above.

The 1893 rectory, located directly south of the church and facing
Fuller Avenue, is a two-and-one-half story, pranitée-trimmed, red brick

mansard-roofed block, sct on a high bascment. The center door, sct
in a shallow projce LlUd p|v1ll|nn was oripginally protected by a small
entrance portico, now IcmOVCd lts square-headed windows are set under

brick segmental nluh ., A one-story, [(lat-rooled porch with turned
railings cxtends fxom the north side of the huilding. The interior
consists of simply-{inished, residential scale roowms, arranpged around
a long central hall.

The convent, directly behind the rectory and facing Cowden Street,
was designed by Murphy and H1ndle and was opcned in 1905, It is of
red brick-

Sce continuation sheet 2
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trimmed in granite, it is a square building whose cross-gable roof
is interrupted by a series of gabled dormers. Its most distinctive
feature is a heavily-scaled entrance portico set on brick piers and
topped by a broken pediment. A onc-story, flat-roofed porch cxtends
from the west side. The interior contains residential scale rooms,
finished simply with oak woodwork. A single-story extension to the

set in the north niche; carved oak stalls line either side of the
chapel. ‘

The Holy Trinity school building, 1like the convent, was designed
by Murphy and Hindle and completed in 1905. "It 1s.a rectangular,
two-and-one-half story gable end structure flanked on either side
by two-story hipped roof extensions and sct on a raised bascment.
Executed in the same red brick and granite trim as the rectory and
convent, its principal feature is a round arched entryway, flanked

The interior contains several classrooms (arranged on cither side
of a long corriodr which extends across the width of the building)},
a library and a small auditorium on the upper floor.

‘parish house, constructed in 1925 and designed by Irving Gorman.
Set on a high basement, the two-story, red brick, rectangular
building has a red tile hip roof.. A long one-story wing on the west
side originally housed a bowling -alley and is now a game room.
A small entrance pavilion extends on either side of the Cowden

v Street facade. The multi—paned(gindows have granite sills and, 1n
the pavilions, label molds; a dgp bay window extends from the center
of the facade. The interior contains a variety of activity and
meeting rooms, a swimming pool, and gymnasium. With the four other
buildings of the complex, it forms a unificd whole; although some
of the Land on the north side has heen paved to ¢reate parking and
play arecas, much of it remainsg in lawn and is oa pleasant preen
space in the densely.developed neighborhood. A simple cast iron

. Fence marks the church property linc and a low brick wall surrounds

: two sides of the parish house. - '
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rear of the building contains the convent's chapel with a small altar

by pilasters and topped by an oriel projecting from the second story.

Adjacent to the school and facing Cowden Strecet is the lHoly Trinity
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Sct in a dcnsuly—dcvgloped residential neighborhood in the center
of the city of Central Falls,  the Holy Trinity churchrcomplex 1s a
handsome group. of structurcs désigned for the various activitics of
a late ninetecenth century, ethnically-oriented, Catholic parish and
is both architecturally and historically 51gn1f1cnnt. The complex
includés five structurcs which occupy .the ecastern half of a long
block surrounded hy lledley Avenue and Fuller, Cowden and Dexter streets.
The centerpicce of the complex is the 1889 Victorian Gothic Hoiy
Trinity Church.

Holy Trinity Church was designed by James Morphy, a Providence .
church architect, who worked almost exclusively for Rhode Island
Catholic parishes in a carcer spanning the years from 18061 to 1890.
Among his works arc St. Mary's Church, at Broadway and Barton streets,
Providence, now included in €he Broadway-Armory National Register
Historic District, and St. BEdward's Chuvch on Branch Avenue, Providence.
Murphy's Holy Trinity Church in Central Talls is the principal
.architectural monument of its ncighborhood which is made up lurgely
of closely-packed 2- and 3-Family houses. Its steeple, onc of the
tallest church spires leflt in Central Falls, is visible throughout
the neighborhood and from the western approaches to the city. The
auxiliary buildings ol thc complex--wctory, convent, school, and parish-
house--although lcss claborate, complement the church, repeat its
red brick material and create a unified grouping. In architecctural
terms, the group is a representative and well-preserved example of
Cdtholic pallbh ﬂlChlLCLLU]L of the latc nminctecnth century.

WhllP four of the lfive buildings in the iloly Trinity complex are
owncd and uscd by a religious dinstitntion and would thus ordinarily
be excluded from consideration or the National Repistoer, the primiry
significance of the complex derives from its historic role as the
center of Ivish Catholic community 1Life in Central VFalls. 1In the
nineteenth century, the city had a largely forcign-hern, Catholic
population, and Catholic parishes were formed and developed along
national lincs. Jlocated in rvesidential neighborhoods and surrounded
by the mult1—f¢m1ly tenements which housed their parishioners, cthnically-

See continuation.sheet 4
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ﬂwrlcntcd churches played a large vole in the life of their immigrant.

'}communltlee and often built-several ancillary structurcs near the church

“to serve the multiple veligious and sccular voles of- the parish.

; ggThe Holy Trinity complex is the hest-prescrved and the most visually

o ﬂiunlfled of several such complexes built by immigrant groups in the. city.
sk A

v The irish had been a significant part of Central TFalls! population
A% since. the first half of the nincteenth century, when a large number.
wof Irish came to the arca to work on the construction ol the I'rovidence
! and Worcester Railroad and the numerous mills built aleong the banks
)_'of the Blackstone River; they later found work. in the expanding textile
:_and metal industries -of the region.

Holy Trinity parish was formed.in 1888 from parts of necarby Pawtucket
¥'and Valley Falls parishes when the Trish population of the city was

. still increasing. Although numerically outnumbered by ¥French Canadian
immigrants, the Irtish were still one of ‘the largest. cthnic groups in

+" the city and were concentrated in its central neighborhood. The church
V' corporation borrowed $15,000 to begin building, and construction on

the church began in 1889, Scrvices were first held in the roofed-

over basement (a common practice), while the parish gathered its
resources to complete the cdifice. lousc-to-house solicitations by
the Irish-born pastor, lLr. Patrick Farvrelly, and his bullding committee
were conducted to pay for construction. The church was completed 1in
©1891 and the steeple finished in 1897. '

Holy Trinity qLickly becamec the center of religious and social 1ife
of the city's largest Irish ncighborhood. Church-sponsored picnics,
boat excursions, and theatrical presentations previded much of the
social and recreational life of the Irish working-class nCAgthLhood.
The continuing importance of. the parish and the various roles which
it played in the surrvounding community are rveprescnted by the number
h. of auxiliary buildinpgs censtructed over the next three decades as 1t
i grew and as its resources allowed.  The rectory, providing pricsts!
living quarters and parish offices, was built in 1892 adjacent to
the church; its arvchitect is unknown, A school, originally accommodating

A almost 500 students, still operates. The convent provided living

f% . quarters for the Presentation Sisters. Both were built in 19065.

5. I - .

ﬁ; . The parish housc, completed in 1926 at a cost of $150,000, housed
Jﬁ - many of the non-religious activitics and functions ol lHoly Trinity.

b S : : Sce continuation shect 5
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The meetings of many parish social and scrvice organizations (such as
the Holy Name Socicty, the Children of Mary Sodality, the Young tens'
Catholic Club, the St. Viwcent de Paul Society, and.the Enights of
‘Columbus) were held herc. The recreational resources included pool
tables,  bowling allcys, a Librvary, a small gymnasitm, and the on'ly

swimming pool-in the c¢ity. The parish house was also usced tor lectures,
shows, dances, and plays; classcs in domestic science; and a regular
Sunday program of moving pictures. The parish house was, to a large

extent, the particular project of Msgr. John Sullivan, the pastor, and
an author of noted texts on Catholicism and scientific -subjeccts as
well., He intended the parish house to scrve the whole community as
well as parish members and, indéed, its recrcational facilities were
used by non-parishioners. . The parish housc has recently been acquired
by the city of Central Falls and-is being renovated to serve as the
Central Falls Boys' Club/Community Center. [Tt will continue to serve
the social and rccreational needs of the neighborhood. :

. Since their construction, Holy Trinity Church and its ancillary
‘buildings have dominated the surrounding neighborhood, both visually
and as the institutional center of roiigiou educational, and social
life for a large community 'of Trish immlgi ants and - their desendants.
As it stands today, the complex represents the sacrifices of time -and
energy expended by a largely working-class lrish-American parish,
and is a testimony to their matevial achicevement. [ts role as the
church of immigrants continues into this decade. Within the last ten
years, a new group of immigrants, most of them Spanish-speaking
Colombians, have been added to the necighborhood ncar the church.
Like their Irish prcdecessors, many of thesc new arvivals work in
the textile mills of the city. As it did £or the Irish, Holy Trinity
%now plays .a bioadrolc in their lives.
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HOLY TRINITY CHURCH COMPLEX
Central Falls, Rhode Island

Photographer: Warren Jagger
Date of Photograph: May, 1977

Negative: Rhode Island Historical Preservation
Commission

150 Benefit Street
Providence, Rhode Island 02903

Holy Trinity Church from southeast.
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HOLY TRINITY CHURCH COMPLEX
Central Falls, Rhode Island

Photographer: Warren Jagger
Date of Photograph: May, 1977
Negative: Rhode Island Historical Preservation
Commission
150 Benefit Street
Providence, Rhode Island 02903

Nave interior, Holy Trinity Church
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HOLY TRINITY CHURCH COMPLEX
Central Falls, Rhode Island

Photographer: Warren Jagger

Date of Photograph: May, 1977

Negative: Rhode Island Historical Preservation
Commission

l 150 Benefit Street

j Providence, Rhode Island 02903

Holy Trinity Church and Rectory from southeast.
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HOLY TRINITY CHURCH COMPLEX
Central Falls, Rhode Island

Photographer: Warren Jagger
Date of Photograph: May, 1977

Negative: Rhode Island Historical Preservation .

Commission
150 Benefit Street
Providence, Rhode Island 02903

Holy Trinity Convent from southwest.
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HOLY TRINITY CHURCH COMPLEX
Central Falls, Rhode Island

Photographer: Warren Jagger
Date of Photograph: May, 1977

Negative: Rhode Island Historical Preservation

Commission
150 Benefit Street
Providence, Rhode Island 02903

Holy Trinity School from south.
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HOLY TRINITY CHURCH COMPLEX
Central Falls, Rhode Island

Photographer: Warren Jagger
Date of Photograph: May, 1977
Negative: Rhode Island Historical Preservation
Commission
150 Benefit Street
Providence, Rhode Island 02903

Central Falls Community Center (Holy Trinity
Parish House) from southeast.
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